RECEIVED

09-12-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT 1

Case No. 2018AP001293-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL W. MORSE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court the Honorable Joseph P. Wall Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DANIEL W. MORSE Attorney – pro se State Bar No. 1008997

Post Office Box 171006 Milwaukee, WI 53217 (414) 881-6381 dan@morselawoffices.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

Mr. Morse was the duly appointed and acting personal representative of the Estate of Mary Gass, who died intestate, single and without issue as a resident of Dodge County. Acting as the personal representative, Mr. Morse commingled, transferred, and for convenience used funds of the Estate during his administration.

The state charged Mr. Morse with five felonies and three misdemeanors related to the eight times he moved money from the originally opened estate account to other accounts of Mr. Morse as the personal representative.

The circuit court erred in denying the motion to dismiss, which argued that the information erroneously identifies Mr. Morse in each count "as trustee." (6:3) and fails to identify the owner (6:3-4).

The question presented is whether the transfers made by a personal representative constitute the crime of theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(b).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted to provide circuit courts with guidance in similar cases. Briefing should adequately address the issue presented; however, Mr. Morse would welcome oral argument should the Court deem it desirable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mary Gass died 11 October 2013. (Dodge County Case 2013PR000268, available at wicourts.gov.) Mr. Morse met with the sibling heirs of the decedent to discuss the

necessity of a probate administration. Mr. Morse consented to act as personal representative. In order to save the small estate the premium for a bond, Mr. Morse voluntarily submitted his personal financial statement showing assets well in excess of a million dollars and asked the probate court to accept his personal guarantee. The Dodge County Probate Court did so, and Mr. Morse personally executed a signature bond for \$50,000. (Dodge County Case 2013PR000268, of record 5 December 2013, available at wicourts.gov.)

Soon after being appointed, Mr. Morse closed a couple of the decedent's bank accounts and opened an account for the Estate in his name as Personal Representative.

The state charged Mr. Morse with eight counts of theft. (1:2-3.) This included five felony theft charges and three misdemeanor theft charges each "as trustee." (1:2-3.)

Mr. Morse filed a motion to dismiss asserting Mr. Morse was not a trustee but rather a personal representative, and that as such the personal representative is treated as the "owner" of the property during administration. The state filed a response which was totally nonresponsive and made no attempt to argue that a personal representative is a trustee. The state argued that the personal representative is not the owner but didn't assert who is the owner. The circuit court denied the motion. (39:15; App. 105.)

As a result of the denial of the motion to dismiss, Mr. Morse entered into a bargained plea agreement and was convicted of the three misdemeanor charges for the three transfers that were less than \$2,500.00. (28:1.)

At sentencing, the court recognized that Mr. Morse's motion to dismiss presented a question of the interaction and potential conflict between the criminal code and the probate code. (41:24; App. 113.) The court remarked: "But it's still an open question, and I understand that." (41:14-15.) The circuit court further referred to Mr. Morse's motion to dismiss stating, "We did have a very involved legal motion here which certainly remains of record and Mr. Morse has certain rights as to that." (41:18-19; App. 106-107.)

The circuit court then reviewed the three considerations in determining an appropriate sentence and addressed the gravity of the offense, the background and character of Mr. Morse, and the need to protect the public. (41:18; App. 106.) The court found Mr. Morse to be of excellent character. (41:19-22; App. 107-111.) It further indicated that there appeared to be no need to protect the public. (41:22; App. 111.) The court stated, "I think Mr. Morse has suffered greatly as a result of these charges. I can't imagine him doing anything wrong. I just can't imagine that." (41:22; App 111.) The court then sentenced Mr. Morse to six months in the House of Correction, which was stayed, and Mr. Morse was placed on probation for one year with no conditions and to perform forty hours of community service.

In closing, the court remarked, "Okay. Mr. Morse, you have the right to appeal my decision in this case. First of all, my decision in the motion hearing, as well as the sentence that I'm handing down here, if you think I made a legal error." (41:24; App. 113.)

Mr. Morse filed a timely notice of appeal and this appeal follows. (36:1.)

ARGUMENT

Wisconsin Statute § 943.20(1)(b) governs misdemeanor theft and reads as follows:

"By virtue of his or her office, business or employment, or as trustee or bailee, having possession or custody of money or of a negotiable security, instrument, paper or other negotiable writing of another, intentionally uses, transfers, conceals, or retains possession of such money, security, instrument, paper or writing without the owner's consent, contrary to his or her authority, and with intent to convert to his or her own use or to the use of any other person except the owner. A refusal to deliver any money or a negotiable security, instrument, paper or other negotiable writing, which is in his or her possession or custody by virtue of his or her office, business or employment, or as trustee or bailee, upon demand of the person entitled to receive it, or as required by law, is prima facie evidence of an intent to convert to his or her own use within the meaning of this paragraph."

Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(b) (emphasis added).

As Mr. Morse argued in the motion to dismiss, when interpreting statutes, a court must begin by examining the language of the relevant statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain the inquiry stops. State ex rel Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W. 2d 110. Where statutory language is unambiguous, there is no need to consult extrinsic sources of interpretation. (Id., ¶46.) The court held that both the context and the structure of the statute in which the operative language appears are important to its meaning. Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation, but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely related

statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd, unreasonable results. *Id.* "Furthermore, when there is doubt as to the meaning of a criminal statute, a court should apply the rule of lenity and interpret the statute in favor of the accused." *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 59, ¶13, 262 Wis. 2d 167, 663 N.W. 2d 700. If this Court has any question regarding the interplay of the plain language of Wis. Stats. § 857.01, governing ownership in personal representative, management, and control, and 943.20(1)(b), it must be resolved in favor of the defendant, Mr. Morse.

There are at least five elements required to occur to be guilty of the crimes of which Mr. Morse was convicted and the lack of any one of such elements is sufficient to find Mr. Morse not guilty.

NOT A TRUSTEE

Mr. Morse was the duly appointed and acting personal representative of the intestate estate of Mary Gass pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 857.01. To be clear, Ms. Gass had not executed a will, nor had she created a trust prior to her death. As such, Mr. Morse was never appointed as a trustee.

It is obvious and unambiguous from the plain language of the statute that the charges should never have been issued. A personal representative is simply not a trustee. The terms have meaning and are not interchangeable. The powers, duties, and responsibilities are distinctly different and come from totally different statutes: Wis. Stat. Chapter 857 for personal representatives and Wis. Stat. Chapter 701 for trustees.

When it was a capital offense for stealing a horse and someone stole a cow, calling the cow a horse didn't make it so. And charging a personal representative with a perceived offense for a trustee doesn't make the personal representative a trustee.

Sure, some attributes of personal representatives and trustees may be similar, like an electrician and a plumber are both tradesmen and place their work within the walls, but those terms certainly aren't interchangeable. A personal representative and a trustee are both fiduciaries. Wis. Stat. § 66.1309(1)(c). So, if the legislature had wanted to include personal representatives within the purview of § 943.20(1)(b), it could have easily done so by actually using the term "fiduciary." The legislature did not and for good reason. A personal representative simply cannot do the job of administering an estate without *using* the assets of the estate so nearly every personal representative would regularly be committing an offense under this statute.

There is a case where another personal representative was charged under this statute. *State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W. 2d 150. Neither the circuit court, nor the court of appeals nor the Supreme Court made any attempt to explain how the state got from Doss being a personal representative to being accused as a trustee (and sometimes, oddly, including bailee).

OF ANOTHER

So then, just who's money is it? Who is the legal owner of such assets during the period of administration?

Well, Mary Gass, like all other decedents before her, was dead. The moment before she died, she owned her assets. Then she was dead, so then what?

What about the beneficiaries or the estate? Thomas E. Atkinson, in his treatise on the Law of Wills, concludes:

"The purposes of administration are to collect the personal assets of the decedent, pay the lawful claims against the estate, and distribute the balance to the legatees or distributees. For these reasons the title to the personalty passes to the Personal Representative rather than the beneficiaries."

The office of Personal Representative, that is, executor or administrator, is of extreme importance in Anglo-American law. This is not only because he has important rights and duties in connection with the settlement of his decedent's affairs, but also *for the reason that the estate is not recognized as a legal entity.*"

The representative is not regarded as an agent for the estate for, in legal contemplation, there is no such principal. He is regarded rather as the owner of the decedent's personal property though his ownership is not beneficial and will be terminated upon completion of the administration."

The personal representative and not the estate is the one with whom the courts and third persons are concerned."

Law of Wills, 2nd Edition, 1953, by Thomas E. Atkinson, Chapter 12, Section 103, pages 561, 576

The circuit court concluded that the estate is the "owner." (39:14; App. 104.) But if that is the case, you can't stop there. Who, then, speaks for the estate? Who can consent or withhold consent for the estate? The only person authorized to do so is the personal representative.

So then, this is certainly not to argue that the assets belong to the personal representative personally, or not in a fiduciary capacity, but rather that there is no "other" during the period of administration for whom the personal representative is withholding control or use. The criminal statute necessarily requires that the actor is doing something with property of another and there simply isn't another.

WITHOUT THE OWNER'S CONSENT

Another necessary element of the offense is that such action be done without the owner's consent. Who else, other than the personal representative, is the owner? The original owner is dead and no longer owns any property and there must be someone who has the authority to consent in order to have acted without such consent. The only person authorized to speak for the estate is the personal representative.

The only case in Wisconsin that addressed this element of owner is the case of *State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W. 2d 150. The court made no attempt to explain how it got from Doss being a personal representative to being accused as a trustee (and sometimes, oddly, including bailee). Nevertheless, the court did not conclude that Doss was guilty of theft or conversation *during her period of administration*, but rather when she ultimately refused to comply with a court order to turn over the funds: "We agree with the State that even if Doss held title to the estate assets as a personal representative, nothing justified her refusal to return those funds to the clerk when ordered to do so by the probate court." (*Id.*, ¶89.) It is understandable that the Supreme Court cannot have someone choosing to ignore a

court order. However, in the instant case, Mr. Morse immediately complied with the probate court's order and promptly turned over every penny of the funds of the Estate.

As fundamental principles of probate law establish, Mr. Morse was the "owner." *Peters v. Kell*, 12 Wis. 2d 32, 41, 106 N.W. 2d 407,413(1960); *In re Krause's Will*, 240 Wis. 72, 75-76, 2 N.W. 2d 733, 735 (1942); *Schoenwetter v. Schoenwetter*, 164 Wis. 131, 134, 159 N.W. 737 (1916); *see* Wis. Stat. § 857.01 ("Upon his or her letters being issued by the court, the personal representative succeeds to the interest of the decedent in all property of the decedent."). That being the case, then there was no violation. *See Peters*, 106 N.W. 2d at 413 (any action for conversion of estate property may be maintained only by the administratrix (now, personal representative)).

It is also clear that the heirs have no ownership interest in the estate during administration:

"The administrator is the legal owner for the time being of the personal property of which the decedent died possessed, and his title and authority extend so completely to all such property as to exclude for the time being creditors, legatees, and all others beneficially interested in the estate."

In re Krause's Will, 240 Wis. at 75-76 (citations omitted).

Apparently being unfamiliar with the broad impact of the 1986 Marital Property Law of Wisconsin, the state assumed in its Response to the Motion to Dismiss that replacing "title" with "interest" diminished the property included in an estate (7:3.) when it is actually quite the opposite. The reason for the change was not to shrink away from title, but rather to expand the decedent's ownership to

assets that are titled in the name of a surviving spouse to which the decedent had a marital property interest. The term "interest" subsumes the titled assets of the decedent and also includes ownership of other assets not so titled. The circuit court in its denial of the Motion to Dismiss was admittedly confused and consequently got the entire concept of the "interests of the estate" as changed by the Marital Property Law totally wrong (39:3-4; App. 101-102).

CONTRARY TO AUTHORITY

The statute further requires that such acts are done contrary to the authority of the personal representative. How can this be? The personal representative has total authority to transfer the assets in payment of claims, to change banks and accounts, to make investments and sell investments, etc. Wis. Stat. § 857.03. Since the cash from the accounts of the decedent that were closed could legally have been placed in any account, including a personal account of the personal representative, then how could moving such cash into such an account later suddenly be a crime. In this case, the conviction is for transferring funds less than \$2,500 three times from an account created by the personal representative for the estate to different accounts also controlled by Mr. Morse. Whose authority was required for those transfers? Such transfers or payments made to anyone for anything by a personal representative do not require permission of the probate court or the beneficiaries. Certainly, obtaining such approval might bode well in the event of a mistake or poor judgment and might provide some protection from liability. But here Mr. Morse had already assumed total liability for such assets by pledging his own personal assets as bond.

Assume Andy gives \$20 to Bill and asks him to give it to Carl. On his way to do so, Bill sees David and David reminds Bill that he owes him \$20. Bill gives the \$20 from Andy to David at a time when Bill has \$60 of his own money. Bill then goes to an ATM and takes out \$20 from his own account and delivers it to Carl. Is Bill guilty of theft of Andy's money?

INTENT

As is evident from the record, Mr. Morse certainly "used" the money of the Estate in the sense that if you are tracing what otherwise is typically viewed as a fungible asset, the dollars originally of the Estate were used by Mr. Morse personally. However, at every single moment of such transfer and use, Mr. Morse was personally liable for the funds and was in possession of assets of far greater value such that Mr. Morse always had possession of the full amount of cash that belonged to the Estate, just not always the exact same dollars. Mr. Morse never had any intent to convert a single dollar and literally could not, because he was always personally liable for such funds, having given his personal guarantee.

PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES and COMMINGLING

The position of personal representative is unique. Because at death there is no one to stand in the shoes of the decedent to have a legal basis for dealing with the property of the decedent, the legislature has created a position by statute and has, of necessity, given the personal representative the ownership and control of such assets under Section 857.01.

While it may come as a shock to the ill-informed, there is absolutely no law, no statute, no rule or regulation that requires a personal representative to open a separate account for the liquid assets of the estate to be administered or to keep such assets isolated or partitioned. It is widely known, understood, and accepted among probate attorneys that the vast majority of personal representatives appointed in Wisconsin simply deposit the cash assets of the decedent into their own accounts. Of course, arguably it might be better practice or easier to account for such funds if a separate account were used, but the only requirement is that at the end of the period of administration there is an accounting and the remaining assets are distributed to the legally determined beneficiaries. Even the handbook created by the Association of Probate Registers of Wisconsin as a guide for personal representatives indicates that not setting up a separate account is acceptable:

"You may need to open a checking account. We cannot order that a checking account be opened, nor is it always needed. However, with a checking account you can keep accurate records of income and expenses."

Wisconsin Register in Probate Association, A Personal Representative's Guide to Informal Estate Administration in Wisconsin, p. 8, Revised September 2013, page 8.

It would be categorically impossible to carry out one's duties as a personal representative and not be guilty of "using" the assets of the estate. Moving, repairing, and selling the decedent's vehicle, or dealing with a boat or summer home, or any of a myriad of assets in various stages of condition and location, necessarily requires "use."

CONCLUSION

For any one or more of the reasons stated above, this Court should remand to the circuit court with instructions to vacate Mr. Morse's convictions and dismiss with prejudice.