RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

11-09-2018

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2018AP001293-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DANIEL W. MORSE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH R. WALL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Matthew R. Westphal Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1071292 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

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

ARGUMENT

Morse asserts that the evidence was insufficient to establish the State met the elements of Theft (Embezzlement). As an initial matter, Morse is judicially estopped from challenging whether his actions constituted the crime of Theft

(Embezzlement). Secondly, by entering a guilty plea to the offenses alleged, Morse has waived the ability to challenge those convictions. Finally, if this Court were to find Morse was not judicially estopped from challenging his conviction and he did not waive the claimed error, this Court should affirm the circuit court, as the evidence was sufficient to establish each of the elements of Theft (Embezzlement).

I. By pleading guilty, Morse is judicially estopped from challenging whether his actions constituted the crime of Theft (Embezzlement).

The purpose of judicial estoppel is "to protect against a litigant playing 'fast and loose with the courts' by asserting inconsistent positions" in legal proceedings. State v. Petty, 201 Wis. 2d 337, 347, 548 N.W.2d 817 (1996). "The doctrine precludes a party from asserting a position in a legal proceeding and then subsequently asserting an inconsistent position." Id. The intent is to "protect the judiciary as an institution from the perversion of judicial machinery." Id. at 346, 548 N.W.2d 817. "For judicial estoppel to be available, three elements must be satisfied: (1) the later position must be clearly inconsistent with the earlier position; (2) the facts at issue should be the same in both cases; and (3) the party to be estopped must have convinced the first court to adopt its position." State v. Ryan, 2012 WI 16, ¶ 33, 338 Wis. 2d 695, 809 N.W.2d 37 (citing Petty, 201 Wis. 2d at 348, 548 N.W.2d 817).

a. Morse's later position is clearly inconsistent.

At the time of his plea, Morse agreed that he was giving up his right to challenge the criminal complaint. (R. 40:12). He admitted that he was guilty of the offenses charged because he did in fact commit those offenses. (R. 40:12). He acknowledged as accurate the State's proffer that he took money from the estate and did not return that money upon demand. (R. 40:14-15). In the Plea Questionnaire/Waiver of Rights he signed, Morse further acknowledged that he would be found guilty based upon the facts in the criminal complaint and the facts stated in court. (R. 21:2). He acknowledged the different elements that the State would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 21:1). As such, Morse's position was

clearly that he admitted to committing the offenses charged in the amended information.

Now, Morse is arguing that the evidence was not sufficient to convict him and is denying the elements of Theft (Embezzlement) were satisfied. Denying the evidence satisfied the elements of Theft after previously having accepted that same proposition by pleading guilty is clearly inconsistent.

b. The facts at issue are the same.

The facts at issue when Morse plead guilty and the facts raised in his appeal are the exact same. Nothing has changed that would change the facts. The only different is that, instead of acknowledging and agreeing with the facts as he did at his plea hearing, Morse is now contesting those same facts. As such, the facts are the same in both instances.

c. Morse convinced the circuit court to adopt his position.

At the earlier plea hearing, Morse convinced the circuit court to adopt his position. At the plea hearing, Morse's position was that there was sufficient evidence to meet each of the elements of Theft (Embezzlement) and to find him guilty of such. The circuit court specifically made a finding that there was a factual basis to support the charges of Theft and that Morse was knowingly and voluntarily entering his plea and waiving his rights. (R. 40:15). As such, the circuit court was convinced by Morse's assertions to adopt his position that he was guilty of the offenses charged in the amended information.

Morse knowingly and intelligently plead guilty to three counts of Theft (Embezzlement), acknowledging the sufficiency of the facts to convict him of such crimes and leading the circuit court to rely upon those pleas. Now, he takes the contrary position that he cannot be convicted of the crimes to which he admitted guilt. This Court should hold that Morse is judicially estopped from arguing this inconsistent position and affirm the circuit court ruling.

II. Morse waived the ability to challenge his convictions by entering guilty pleas.

Morse does not address why his entry of guilty pleas should not be considered a waiver of all defenses. knowingly and voluntarily entered guilty plea waives all nonjurisdictional defects and defenses in a criminal prosecution, including claims of violations of constitutional rights. See State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18 & n.11, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886; State v. Mack, 93 Wis. 2d 287, 293, 286 N.W.2d 563 (1980); State v. Kraemer, 156 Wis. 2d 761, 765, 457 N.W.2d 562 (Ct. App. 1990). Such a plea constitutes a waiver of defects and defenses even if the "defendant attempts to preserve an issue by raising it in the circuit court." State v. Asmus, 2010 WI App 48, ¶ 3, 324 Wis. 2d 427, 430, 782 N.W.2d 435, 436 (citing State v. Skamfer, 176 Wis. 2d 304, 312 n. 2, 500 N.W.2d 369 (Ct. App. 1993). In Wisconsin, the circuit courts are courts of general jurisdiction that "have original subject matter jurisdiction of all matters, civil and criminal, not excepted in the constitution or prohibited by law." Id. at 294. In contrast, "[p]ersonal jurisdiction in a criminal case attaches by an accused's physical presence before the court pursuant to a properly issued warrant, lawful arrest or a voluntary appearance, and continues through the final disposition of the case." Kelley v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 475, 479, 195 N.W.2d 457 (1972).

Morse has not claimed the circuit court lacked either personal or subject matter jurisdiction. As to personal jurisdiction, Morse was properly before the court on a Summons and thus voluntarily acceded to the court's jurisdiction. Since Morse never made any objections to the court's personal jurisdiction, any objection has been waived. See Day v. State, 52 Wis. 2d 122, 125, 187 N.W.2d 790 (1971); Belcher v. State, 42 Wis. 2d 299, 166 N.W.2d 211 (1969). As to subject matter jurisdiction, a complaint or information is jurisdictionally defect if it fails to charge a criminal offense. See Champlain v. State, 53 Wis. 2d 751, 754, 193 N.W.2d 868 (1972) (abrogated on other grounds by State v. Petrone, 161 Wis. 2d 530, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991)). There is no dispute that

¹ In addition, by pleading to the information, Morse waived any defense of lack of personal jurisdiction. *See Armstrong v. State*, 55 Wis. 2d 282, 285, 198 N.W.2d 357 (1972).

Theft (Embezzlement) under § 943.20(1)(b) is a crime; the only dispute revolves around whether the evidence was sufficient to establish each of the elements. Thus, the circuit court had subject matter jurisdiction over the proceedings.

Morse has not moved to withdraw his plea or alleged that his attorney was ineffective in representing him in regards to the plea. He has not claimed the circuit court violated its mandatory procedures under Wis. Stat. § 971.08, nor that his plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered. See State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 274, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986); Nelson v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972); State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). In this instance, Morse entered a voluntary and knowing guilty plea. He filled out a plea questionnaire, in which he acknowledged his constitutional rights, and filed with the court a copy of the jury instructions explaining the elements of the offense to which he was pleading. (R. 21, 22). Included in his plea questionnaire was an addendum in which Morse explicitly acknowledged he was giving up the right to challenge the sufficiency of the complaint, his right to raise any defenses, and his right to make the state prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 21:3). The trial court conducted a thorough plea colloquy with Morse, a licensed attorney himself, and went over Morse's rights again before finding him guilty. (R. 40:6-16). As such, there can be no meritorious claim that Morse's plea was not voluntarily and knowingly entered.

Because Morse's guilty plea was voluntarily entered and he was subject to the jurisdiction of the circuit court, any defects or defenses in the criminal prosecution are deemed waived. Even though Morse raised the defense that a personal representative cannot be guilty of Theft (Embezzlement), a valid guilty plea constitutes a waiver of that defense. *See Asmus*, 2010 WI App 48, ¶ 3. Based on that waiver, Morse cannot now attempt to challenge his conviction due to his valid guilty pleas. This Court should affirm the circuit court.

III. The evidence was sufficient to establish the elements of Theft (Embezzlement).

If this Court determines that Morse was not judicially estopped from raising his arguments and that he did not waive

those arguments, then the Court should find the evidence was sufficient to establish the elements of Theft (Embezzlement). Morse argues that the State failed to establish the elements of Theft (Embezzlement), largely because the State failed to establish who was the owner of the estate and because, as a personal representative, Morse was not a trustee for purposes of the prosecution. The State asserts that the evidence supports the convictions.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court, in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to sustaining a conviction, will only overturn a conviction where the evidence "is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

a. By pleading guilty to Theft, Morse admitted to each of the elements and agreed that a factual basis existed to support a finding of guilt.

Morse asserts the crime of Theft (Embezzlement) has five elements in his Brief, none of which were met by the State's evidence. According to Wisconsin Jury Instruction 1444, which has been cited as the correct breakdown of the elements of Theft (Embezzlement), there are four elements. *See State v. Halverson*, 32 Wis. 2d 503, 509, 145 N.W.2d 739 (1966); *State v. Blaisdell*, 85 Wis. 2d 172, 176, 270 N.W.2d 69 (1978). The four elements of Theft (Embezzlement) are:

- 1. The defendant had possession of money belonging to another because of his employment.
- 2. The defendant intentionally used the money without the owner's consent and contrary to the defendant's authority.
- 3. The defendant knew that the use of the money was without the owner's consent and contrary to the defendant's authority.
- 4. The defendant intended to convert the money to his own use or the use of any other person.
 WIS JI-CRIM 1444

Morse was informed of each of these elements during the plea hearing. (R. 40:7). The State provided a proffer, in which it laid out the factual basis of Morse using estate funds for his personal purposes and not returning the funds to the new personal representative. (R. 40:14-15). The State also relied upon the criminal complaint as a factual basis for the elements above, which Morse agreed to through his attorney. (R. 40:15). The circuit court found a factual basis to support each of the charges Morse plead guilty to. (R. 40:15). There is nothing in the record to support overruling the circuit court's findings of a factual basis to support the convictions. None of the factual findings made by the circuit court are "against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence," that would require the findings be overturned. See State v. Arias, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 12, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748 (citations omitted). As such, there was sufficient evidence to support each element of the offense.

b. Morse had possession of funds of another due to his employment.

Morse argues that, as the personal representative of the estate, he was not a trustee. (Resp. Br. at 5). He also argues that, as the personal representative under Wis. Stat. § 857.01, he was the individual who was the "owner" for purposes of being authorized to speak for the estate and consent for use. (Resp. Br. at 6, 8).

It has long been the law that a personal representative has duties and responsibilities akin to those of a trustee. The administrator of the estate has duties that are "trust duties," and "is regarded in courts of equity as a trustee." *McKeigue v. Chicago & N.W.R. Co.*, 130 Wis. 543, 546, 110 N.W. 384, 385 (1907)(citations omitted). The term "trustee" includes "all persons vested with the title or control of property and charged with fiduciary duties in relation thereto for the benefit of another." *Id.* Here, as personal representative, Morse had control of the estate funds and was charged with fiduciary duties as to those funds. As such, he was a trustee as the Wisconsin Supreme Court has used that term.

In addition, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has already affirmed a conviction for a personal representative charged as a

trustee and rejected the argument of personal representative as owner. See State v. Doss, 2008 WI 93, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W.2d 150. In State v. Doss, Doss was co-personal representative for her father's estate. Doss, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 7. During the administration of the estate, Doss withdrew all of the money from the estate's accounts and deposited them in her personal accounts. Id. at ¶ 10. Despite a court order to return the money, Doss never did so. Id. at ¶ 13. Doss was ultimately charged with Theft as a Trustee/Bailee, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(b), and found guilty following a jury trial. Id. at ¶ 14. Among other argument on appeal, Doss argued the evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction and that she was the owner of the estate funds under § 857.01 and thus couldn't have stolen them. Id. at ¶¶ 57, 88.

At no time during its opinion did the *Doss* Court raise any concerns about whether a personal representative would be considered a trustee for purposes of the Theft statute or the ability of the personal representative to consent to use of estate In fact, the Doss Court explicitly found that the evidence was sufficient to establish each element of the offense, including the elements surrounding Doss' possession of the estate money as a personal representative and her use without consent. Id. at ¶ 63-64. Although the parties did not expressly raise that issue, the Court had the inherent power and explicit statutory authority to raise the issue and reverse the conviction in the interests of justice "if it appear[ed] from the record that the real controversy ha[d] not been fully tried," or there was a miscarriage of justice. Wis. Stat. § 751.06. See also State v. Maloney, 2006 WI 15, ¶ 14, 288 Wis. 2d 551, 709 N.W.2d 436; *State v. Armstrong*, 2005 WI 119, ¶ 113, 283 Wis. 2d 639, 700 N.W.2d 98. The Supreme Court can exercise this authority regardless of whether the defendant made such a motion. See Maloney, 2006 WI 15, ¶ 16 (citing Wis. Stat. § 751.06). The *Doss* Court did not exercise its authority, thus indicating that a conviction for theft by trustee of a personal representative did not result in the real controversy not being tried and was not a miscarriage of justice.

In addition, the *Doss* Court also addressed Doss' argument that, as personal representative, she was the owner of the estate funds. *See Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 88. Doss argued that the "fundamental principles of probate law" established that

she was the owner of the funds. 2 *Id.* at ¶ 88. The Court noted that the Theft statute, Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(b) does not require the owner to be named in the jury instruction and that a jury conclusion that the money Doss converted did not belong to her encompassed the conclusion that Doss was not the owner of the money. *Id.* at ¶ 89. The *Doss* court noted that the jury was not required to identify beyond that who the owner is. *Id.* The Court stated that, "even if Doss held title to the estate assets as a personal representative, nothing justified her refusal to return those funds to the clerk when ordered to do so by the probate court." *Id.*

As in *Doss*, Morse did not immediately return the estate funds to the successor personal representative once Morse no longer had any involvement with the estate. The successor personal representative was required to make several requests and file an Order to Show Cause in probate court before Morse complied. (R. 1:19-20). This establishes that, even if Morse held some title to the assets before, nothing justified him in refusing to turn the estate assets over to the successor personal representative once he was no longer the personal representative.

Based on the *Doss* Court's findings that the evidence there supported a conviction in a situation involving substantially similar facts, it leads to the conclusion that Morse's claim that he was insulated from prosecution should be rejected as well.

c. Morse used the estate funds without consent and contrary to his authority.

Morse further argues that, as the personal representative, he had total authority to transfer the estate's assets. (Resp. Br. at 10). This is not correct. As the personal representative, Morse's authority was limited by the powers and duties

12

_

² In support for that proposition, Doss cited to Wis. Stat. § 857.01, as well as *Peters v. Kell*, 12 Wis. 2d 32, 41, 106 N.W.2d 407 (1960), *Krause v. Krause*, 240 Wis. 2d 72, 75-76, 2 N.W.2d 733 (1942), and *Schoenwetter v. Schoenwetter*, 164 Wis. 131, 134, 159 N.W.2d 737 (1916). *See State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 88. These are the exact same authorities that Morse uses for the proposition that he was the owner of the estate funds at issue. (Resp. Br. at 9).

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